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 Plaintiff, through his undersigned counsel, on behalf of himself and all persons similarly 

situated, alleges the following based upon personal knowledge as to allegations regarding 

plaintiff and on information and belief as to other allegations based upon the investigation of his 

counsel which included, among other things, a review of news articles, press releases, court 

filings and pleadings, and other matters of public record regarding TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank”), 

and the SEC filings of the Bank’s parent corporation, The Toronto-Dominion Bank (not named 

as a defendant herein). Additional support for these allegations will be available upon an 

opportunity for discovery. 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  This is a civil class action seeking injunctive relief, monetary damages, and 

restitution from the Bank arising out of its unlawful assessment and collection of excessive 

overdraft fees. 

2.  This action challenges the Bank’s regular and wrongful practice of maximizing 

the number of overdraft fees it charges its customers. The Bank does this by cashing checks 

against a customer’s personal checking account in order from highest to lowest dollar amount.  

The Bank cashes its customers’ big checks first so that their account balance is more rapidly 

depleted.  This increases the likelihood a customer’s account will be overdrawn --  lack sufficient 

funds to cover payment of  other, smaller checks or pre-arranged electronic payments for utility 

and other monthly bills drawn on the account -- and suffer the imposition of $35 overdraft fee 

per transaction. 

3.  The Bank was sued for this same wrongful practice in 2009.  Class actions 

asserted claims against the Bank for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, and conversion. An MDL panel consolidated the class 
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actions in the Southern District of Florida for coordinated discovery in an action styled, In re 

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation, 1:09-MD-02036-JLK (S.D. Fla.). The Bank ultimately 

agreed to pay its customers $62 million to settle these class actions. A person was a member of 

that Settlement Class if they had a TD Bank consumer deposit account accessible with a TD 

Bank debit card at any time between December 1, 2003 and August 15, 2010, and they were 

charged one or more overdraft fees as a result of TD Bank’s practice of posting debit card 

transactions from highest to lowest dollar amount.  See www.tdbankoverdraftsettlement.com.1 

4.  The settlement, however, obtained no injunctive relief for the class, which the 

Bank took full advantage of.  After the MDL class action settlement, the Bank continued to heap 

up wrongful overdraft fees on its customers’ personal bank accounts by processing transactions 

from highest to lowest dollar amount.  Plaintiff seeks to permanently enjoin the Bank from 

continuing this unlawful practice. 

5.   Plaintiff sues for injunctive and other relief on behalf of himself and other Bank 

customers who maintained a personal checking account during the period after the Bank’s MDL 

class action settlement discussed above (August 16, 2010 and thereafter), and who were similarly 

charged improper overdraft fees when the Bank reordered their checks from highest to lowest 

dollar amount.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6.  This Court has original jurisdiction of this action under the Class Action Fairness 

Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. §§1332(d)(2) and (6), because the aggregate claims of the Class members 

                         

 1 This class definition arguably does not even include the class of Bank customers that plaintiff 

seeks to represent, namely, those who incurred overdraft fees based on the Bank’s policy of reordering the 

payment of checks from highest to lowest. Nevertheless, plaintiff makes clear in his class definition that 

he is seeking to represent only those Bank customers who incurred damages after the operative end date 

of the prior MDL settlement, August 15, 2010. 
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exceed $5 million, excluding interest and costs, the Class contains at least 100 members, and 

there is diversity of citizenship with at least one member of the proposed Class and defendant. 

7. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §1391 because defendant is 

subject to personal jurisdiction in this District, regularly doing retail banking business here 

through numerous branches throughout this District, and because a substantial part of the events 

or omissions giving rise to the claims asserted herein occurred and are still occurring in this 

District.   

PARTIES 

 

8.  Plaintiff Joseph Mingrone opened a personal bank account at a Bank branch in 

this District in or about September 2010.  Plaintiff was charged overdraft fees when the Bank 

paid or charged checks drawn on his personal checking account on or about April 19, 2011 and 

April 2, 2013 in the highest to lowest dollar order, and suffered damages as a result.  Plaintiff 

resides in this District. 

9.  Defendant TD Bank, a subsidiary of The Toronto-Dominion Bank, is one of the 

10 largest banks in the United States. (See www.tdbank.com). The Bank has assets of $243 

billion and deposits of $201 billion, as of October 31, 2014. (Id.“Fact sheet”).  According to the 

Bank, it “offers a broad array of retail, small business and commercial banking products and 

services to more than 8 million Customers through [its] extensive network of approximately 

1,300 retail stores throughout the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic, Metro D.C., the Carolinas and 

Florida. (Id.).  According to its website, the Bank maintains and operates numerous retail bank 

branches in this District. (www.tdbank.com - “Find a TD Bank Near You”). 
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

10. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(2) and (b)(3).  This action satisfies the numerosity, typicality, 

commonality, adequacy, predominance and superiority requirements of Rule 23. 

11. The proposed classes are defined as: 

All TD Bank, N.A. customers in the United States who, from August 16, 2010 up to the 

granting of class certification herein, incurred an overdraft fee as a result of TD Bank, 

N.A.’s practice of re-sequencing the posting and payment of a customer’s checks or pre-

arranged regular electronic payments from highest to lowest (the “National Class”). 

 

All T.D. Bank, N.A. customers in the United States, who, from August 16, 2010 up to the 

granting of class certification herein, had accounts at branches in the states of 

Connecticut, Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, South 

Carolina, and Vermont for the purpose of asserting claims under the respective state 

consumer protection statutes (the “State Subclasses”) (See Count 5, infra).   

 

The National Class and the State Subclasses are collectively referred to as the “Classes.”   

12. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed 

Classes before the Court determines whether certification is appropriate. 

13. Excluded from the Classes are the Bank, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliated, 

officers and directors, any entity in which the Bank has a controlling interest, all customers who 

make a timely election to be excluded, governmental entities, and all judges assigned to hear any 

aspect of this litigation, as well as their immediate family members. 

14. Rule 23(a): Numerosity. The members of the Classes are so numerous that their 

joinder is impracticable. Although the exact number the members of the Classes are unknown to 

plaintiff at this time, and can only be ascertained through discovery, plaintiff believes thousands 

of members of the Classes are located throughout the United States. The Bank states that it had 

approximately 8 million customers as of October 31, 2014 (www.tdbank.com)(“Business 

Profile”).  In addition, checks trigger 27% of the total overdrafts imposed by banks in the United 
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States.  See Overdraft Explosion: Bank Fees for Overdrafts Increase 35% in Two Years, Center 

for Responsible Lending, available at www.responsiblelending.org, at 2 n. 1.  Members of the 

Classes may be identified from records maintained by the Bank and/or its agents and may be 

notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using a form of notice similar to that customarily 

used in securities class actions.  

15. Rule 23(a): Typicality. Plaintiff’s’ claims are typical of the claims of the other 

members of the Classes because all members of the Classes were similarly affected by the 

Bank’s wrongful conduct as alleged herein.   

16. Rule 23(a): Adequacy. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

the members of the Classes and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class actions 

and complex litigation. 

17. Rule 23(a): Commonality.  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all 

members of the Classes, including the following: 

a. whether the Bank manipulates and reorders transactions so that it can 

increase the number of overdraft fees it imposes; 

b. whether the Bank imposes overdraft fees when, but for reordering 

transactions, there would otherwise be sufficient funds in the account; 

  c. whether the Bank fails to provide customers with accurate balance 

information; 

  d. whether the Bank charges exorbitant overdraft fees that bear no 

relationship to the actual costs and risks of covering insufficient funds transactions;  

  e. whether the Bank breaches its covenant of good faith and fair dealing with 

plaintiff and other members of the National Class through its overdraft policies and practices;   
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  f. whether the Bank converts monies belonging to plaintiff and other 

members of the Classes through its overdraft policies and practices; 

  g.  whether the Bank’s practice of reordering transactions to increase the 

number of overdraft fees is a deceptive consumer practice; 

  h.  whether the Bank continues to commit wrongdoing through its overdraft 

policies and practices. 

  i. the proper method of measuring damages; 

  j.  the injunctive relief to which the Classes are entitled. 

18. Rule 23(b)(2).  The Bank has acted or refused to act on grounds that apply 

generally to the Classes, namely, it has continued to wrongfully impose overdraft fees on its 

customers’ personal bank accounts as alleged above, making final injunctive relief or 

corresponding declaratory relief appropriate respecting the Classes as a whole. 

19. Rule 23(b)(3). In addition, questions of law or fact common to members of the 

Classes predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and a class action is 

superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy, since 

joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, because the damages suffered by 

individual members of the Classes may be relatively small, the expense and burden of individual 

litigation make it impossible for members of the Classes to individually redress the wrongs done 

to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this suit as a class action.  

COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Bank’s Unlawful Reordering of Checks 

20. The Bank provides customers who open a personal checking account with a debit 

card, more commonly called a check card or ATM card. Customers can use the debit card to 
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withdraw money at automated teller machines (“ATMs”), or to pay for goods purchased from 

merchants (also called “point of sale” transactions). These transactions are processed 

electronically. Customers can also write paper checks against their account.. 

21. If a customer of the Bank writes a check for an amount that exceeds the 

customer’s available Account balance, the Bank charges the customer a $35 “overdraft fee,” 

regardless of the amount of the check.  

22. A customer’s available Account balance is not the actual money in a customer’s 

account. Instead, the Bank automatically deducts the dollar amount of certain electronic 

transactions that are “pending,” but not yet paid. Debit card, ATM and electronic transactions 

that have been authorized but not yet paid are deducted from the customer’s account available 

account balance. The Bank receives notice of these kinds of transactions before they are actually 

presented to the Bank for payment. For example, the Bank may receive a merchant authorization 

request on debit “point of sale” transactions, or other electronic inquiry. Those transactions are 

treated as “pending” as soon as the Bank receives notice and the amount of the transaction is 

deducted from the customer’s available Account balance. According to the Bank, an “overdraft 

is an advance of funds greater that the amount that has become available in accordance with the 

Bank’s Funds Availability Policy …. [and o]verdrafts may include advances to cover a check, in-

person withdrawal, ATM withdrawal, or a withdrawal by other electronic means from your 

Account.” Personal Deposit Account Agreement (the “Deposit Agreement”), March 2011, at 14 

(“Overdrafts”). A copy of the Deposit Agreement is annexed hereto as Exhibit A.2 

                         

 2 Although the Bank periodically reissues its Personal Deposit Account Agreement, all versions 

of it, including the present one posted on the Bank’s website, contain the operative definitions and 

language here alleged. The Deposit Agreement annexed hereto is thus representative. 
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23. The Bank uses a software program to automate its overdraft systems. The Bank’s 

program is designed to maximize the number of overdrafts and thus to increase the number of 

overdraft fees charged to customers.  The Bank states that it posts “items” to a customer’s 

personal checking account, including checks, ATM transactions, and debit card transactions “in 

order from largest to smallest.”  Deposit Agreement, March 2011, at 12 (“Processing Order for 

Payment of Checks and Other Items” at (c)). According to the Bank, an “item” includes, among 

other things, “a check, substitute check, purported substituted check, remotely created check or 

draft.”3  Id. at 11.  

The Bank’s Reordering of Checks Serves no Legitimate Business Purpose 

Except to Heap Up More Fees on Customers 

 

24. This manipulation serves no other business purpose except to more quickly 

deplete customer account funds, and thereby increase the likelihood the customer will be charged 

overdraft fees for numerous smaller transactions. For example, if a customer had $500 in his or 

her personal checking account, and made four transactions of $100 each, followed by a later 

transaction of $1000, the Bank would reorder the transactions from largest to smallest, and 

impose 5 overdraft fees on the customer. But, if the Bank debited the $1000 transaction last, as it 

should if the Bank honored the actual order of the transactions, the customer would only be 

charged for one overdraft fee.  (See, e.g., FDIC Study of Bank Overdraft Programs, November 

2008, available at http://www.fdic.gov/bank/analytical/overdraft at 11, n. 12). 

                         

 3 The Bank’s definition of “item” also includes the following: “electronic transaction, draft, 

image replacement document, indemnified copy, ATM withdrawal or transfer, debit card point-of-sale 

transaction, pre-authorized debit card payment, automatic transfer, telephone-initiated transfer, ACH 

transaction, online banking transfer or bill payment instruction, withdrawal slip, in-person transfer or 

withdrawal, cash ticket, deposit adjustment, wire transfer, and any other instruction or order for the 

payment, transfer or withdrawal of funds.” Deposit Agreement, March 2011, at 11. 
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25. The Bank’s policy of posting charges from largest to smallest in dollar amount, 

instead of chronologically, or from smallest to largest, is designed to and does maximize the 

overdraft fees that the Bank charges its customers by triggering overdraft fees for account 

charges that would not otherwise result in such fees. The Bank intentionally manipulates and 

reorders debit transactions, including the posting of checks to customer accounts, from highest to 

lowest during a day. The Bank reorders transactions for no other reason than to increase the 

number of exorbitant overdraft fees it can charge. This practice violated numerous consumer 

protection laws and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the Bank’s Deposit Agreement. 

26. The terms of the Bank’s checking accounts are contained in standardized account 

holder agreements. The agreements are presented to customers on a “take it or leave it” basis. 

They are drafted and imposed by the Bank, the party of greatly superior bargaining strength, and 

thus constitute contracts of adhesion.   

The Bank’s Misleading Statements About its Practice of Reordering Transactions 

27. In addition, the Bank misleads its customers about its reordering practices. The 

Deposit Agreement states: “We do not process transactions in the order in which they occur. The 

order in which items are processed may affect the total amount of overdraft fees incurred.” Ex. 

A, Deposit Agreement (March 2011) at 12. This statement is deceptive and unfair because it is, 

in fact, the Bank’s practice to always reorder debit transactions from highest to lowest and this 

always maximizes overdraft fees. 

28. The Bank’s practices substantially increase the likelihood that customers’ smaller 

charges and checks will result in multiple overdraft fees. The practice gives the Bank much 

greater service fee revenue than it would otherwise receive without these practices. 
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29. Plaintiff and other members of the class have had their checking transactions 

reordered and manipulated by the Bank causing them to incur multiple overdrafts solely because 

of this wrongful practice. As a result, plaintiff and other members of the Classes have been 

assessed overdraft fees on checks which occurred when they actually had sufficient funds in their 

account to cover those transactions. The Bank’s overdraft practices violate the covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing implied in the Deposit Agreement as well as the consumer protection laws 

of numerous states. 

30.   The amount of the Bank’s overdraft fee --$35 – is not even disclosed in the 

Deposit Agreement, but only in a separate document. 

The Bank’s Willful, Knowing and Intentional Violation of the Law 

31. The Bank was sued for this same wrongful practice in 2009.  Class actions 

asserted claims against the Bank for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, and conversion. An MDL panel consolidated the class 

actions in the Southern District of Florida for coordinated discovery in an action styled, In re 

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation, 1:09-MD-02036-JLK (S.D. Fla.). The Bank ultimately 

agreed to pay its customers $62 million to settle these class actions.  

32. Nonetheless, with full knowledge of its wrongfulness, the Bank has continued to 

engage in this unlawful practice of reordering checks to maximize overdraft charges as set forth 

herein. 

33. Absent the issuance of a permanent injunction sought herein, the Bank will 

continue to engage in this unlawful practice to the detriment of thousands, if not tens of 

thousands of customers.  
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34. The injuries suffered by plaintiff and others from this ongoing wrongful conduct 

are irreparable.  

35. Because of the recalcitrance shown by the Bank in continuing this unlawful 

practice despite having entered into several settlements with other plaintiffs who have 

complained about the same wrongful practice, plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law and 

equitable relief is justified.    

36. Considering the balance of hardships between the plaintiff and the Bank, a 

remedy in equity is warranted.  

37. The public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction. 

The Harm to Plaintiff 

38. Plaintiff is a current checking account customer of the Bank. 

39. In connection with his personal checking account, the Bank issued a debit card to 

plaintiff which allows him to access his checking account funds. Plaintiff also had check writing 

privileges with this account. 

40. The Bank reordered plaintiff’s debit and checking transactions in a way designed 

to maximize overdraft fees, from highest to lowest. For example, based on a review plaintiff’s 

monthly account statements, plaintiff was charged overdraft fees April 19, 2011 and April 2, 

2013 when checks were posted to his checking account in highest to lowest order. These 

overdraft fees were based on the following ordering of transactions: 

April 19, 2011 Overdraft Fees 

4/15/11 balance    $230.44 

4/18/11 

 Deposit    244.20 

 ATM      -60.00 
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 ATM     -41.75 

 Debit  Hess   -41.70 

 Debit  Key Foods  -39.42 

 ATM     -20.00 

 ATM     -20.00 

 Debit card Soigne Culinary -16.33 

 Debit card Mike’s Deli  -13.50 

 ATM fee    -2.00 

      $219.94 

 

 Check     -400 

 Check      -100 

      -280.06 

 

4/19/2011 Overdraft fees paid  $70.00  

41. If the Bank had not manipulated and reorder plaintiff’s transactions from highest 

to lowest, he would not have incurred two overdraft fees on April 19, 2011. 

42. For example, if the Bank had posted the checks drawn on plaintiff’s account from 

lowest to highest, plaintiff would only have incurred one overdraft fee, instead of two. 

April 2, 2013 Overdraft 

3/29/2013 balance    $1155.61 

4/1/2013  

 ATM     -620.00 

 ACH     -40.60 

 Debit card United Meat Market -33.55 

 Debit pos Food Town  -31.99 

 Debit card Little Purity  -27.10 

 Debit pos. Food Town  -18.71 

 Debit      -80.00 

      $303.66 

 

 Electronic payment VZ Wireless -274.04 

 Electronic payment Phone     -88.00 

        -58.38 
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4/2/2013 Overdraft fees paid    $70.00 

43. Again, if the Bank had not manipulated and reordered plaintiff’s transactions from 

highest to lowest, he would not have incurred two overdraft fees on April 2, 2013. If the Bank 

had posted the pre-arranged electronic check payments drawn on plaintiff’s account from 

lowest to highest, plaintiff would only have incurred one overdraft fee, instead of two. 

The Harm to the Classes 

44. Based on information and belief, the overdraft charges incurred by plaintiff are 

representative of hundreds of millions of dollars of overdraft fees that the Bank wrongfully 

assessed and deducted from customer accounts when checks or pre-arranged electronic 

payments were posted to their accounts from highest to lowest. 

45. As a consequence of the Bank’s overdraft policies and practices, plaintiff and the 

members of the Classes have been wrongfully forced to pay overdraft fees. The Bank 

improperly deprived plaintiff and the members of the Classes of significant funds, causing 

monetary losses and damages that are ascertainable and calculable. 

46. As a consequence of the Bank’s improper overdraft fees, the Bank has wrongfully 

deprived plaintiff and the Classes of funds to which the Bank had no legitimate claim. 

47. Plaintiff and other members of the Classes had sufficient funds in their accounts 

to cover the payment of at least some of the checks and pre-arranged electronic payments for 

which they were charged overdraft fees. Plaintiff and other members of the Classes either had 

adequate funds to cover the checks and electronic charges posted to their accounts, or the 

accounts were allowed to become overdrawn, even by de minimus margins, so that the Bank 

could impose these wrongful charges. 
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48. All conditions precedent to the relief sought herein have either occurred or have 

been performed or waived. 

COUNT I 

 

Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

 

(On Behalf of the National Class) 
                             

49. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 above. 

50. Plaintiff and the Bank have contracted for bank account deposit, checking, ATM 

and debit card services, as embodied in the Bank’s Deposit Agreement and related 

documentation. 

51. Good faith is an element of every contract pertaining to the assessment of 

overdraft fees. Whether by common law or statute, all such contracts impose upon each party a 

duty of good faith and fair dealing. Good faith and fair dealing, in connection with executing 

contracts and discharging performance and other duties according to their terms, means 

preserving the spirit – not merely the letter – of the bargain. The parties to a contract are thus 

mutually obligated to comply with the substance of their contract in addition to its form. Evading 

the spirit of the bargain and abusing the power to specify terms constitute examples of bad faith 

in the performance of contracts. 

52. Subterfuge and evasion violate the obligation of good faith in performance even 

when an actor believes his conduct to be justified. Bad faith may be overt or may consist of 

inaction, and fair dealing may require more than honesty. Examples of bad faith are evasion of 

the spirit of the bargain, willful rendering of imperfect performance, abuse of a power to specify 

terms, and interference with or failure to cooperate in the other party’s performance.  
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53. Since at least August 16, 2010, the Bank has breached the covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing in the Deposit Agreement through its overdraft policies and practices as alleged 

herein. 

54. Plaintiff and other members of the National Class have performed all, or 

substantially all, of the obligations imposed on them under the Deposit Agreement. 

55. Plaintiff and member of the National Class have sustained damages as a result of 

the Bank’s breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.  

COUNT II 

Unconscionability 

 

(On Behalf of the National Class) 

 

56. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 above. 

57. The Bank’s overdraft policies and practices are substantively and procedurally 

unconscionable. 

58.  The Bank does not disclose or reasonably disclose to customers that they have 

the option to “opt out” of the Bank’s overdraft scheme. 

59. The Deposit Agreement and related documents are contracts of adhesion because 

they are standardized forms, imposed and drafted by the Bank, which is a party of vastly superior 

bargaining strength, and only relegates to the customer the opportunity to adhere to them or 

reject the agreement in its entirety. 

60. The amount of overdraft fees is disclosed in an ineffective, ambiguous, 

misleading, and unfair manner, since it is not contained in the Deposit Agreement, but rather in a 

different and separate document, which is not signed by the depositor. 
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61. The Deposit Agreement is ineffective, ambiguous, deceptive, unfair, and 

misleading because it does not clearly  state that the Bank always reorders checks and other 

debits from high to low, even though the Bank always reorders transactions in this way  in order 

to maximize overdrafts and overdraft fee revenues for the Bank. 

62. The Bank has a great deal of business knowledge and experience in relation to 

plaintiff and the National Class. The great disparity in the parties’ relative bargaining power, the 

obscurity of the language at issue, the oppressive terms, the commercial unreasonableness of the 

contract terms, and similar public policy concerns, make these provisions unconscionable, and 

therefore unenforceable as a matter of law.  

63. The imposition of overdraft charges which exceed the amount overdrawn (for 

example, the imposition of a $35 charge on an overdraft of less than $35) is itself 

unconscionable. Such charges are not reasonably related to the Bank’s cost of covering the 

overdraft and/or its risk of nonpayment (where the Bank pays the overdraft), or to the Bank’s 

cost of returning the item unpaid (where the Bank does not pay the overdraft). 

64. Plaintiff and other members of the National Class have sustained damages as a 

result of the Bank’s unconscionable policies and practices as alleged herein. 

COUNT III 

Conversion  

(On Behalf of the National Class) 

65. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 above.  

66. The Bank had and continues to have a duty to maintain and preserve its 

customers’ checking accounts and to prevent their diminishment through its own wrongful acts. 

6:15-cv-02293-BHH     Date Filed 05/19/15    Entry Number 1     Page 17 of 22



18 
 

67. The Bank has wrongfully collected overdraft fees from plaintiff and members of 

the National Class, and has taken specific and readily identifiable funds from their accounts in 

payment of these fees in order to satisfy them. 

68. The Bank has, without proper authorization, assumed and exercised the right of 

ownership over these funds, in hostility to the rights of plaintiff and the members of the National 

Class, without legal justification. 

69. The Bank continues to retain these funds unlawfully without the consent of 

plaintiff or members of the National Class. 

70. The Bank intends to permanently deprive plaintiff and the members of the 

National Class of these funds. 

71. These funds are properly owned by plaintiff and the members of the National 

Class, not the Bank, which now claims that it is entitled to their ownership, contrary to the rights 

of plaintiff and the members of the National Class. 

72. Plaintiff and the members of the National Class are entitled to the immediate 

possession of these funds. 

73. The Bank has wrongfully converted these specific and readily identifiable funds 

in violation of law. 

74. The Bank’s wrongful conduct is continuing. 

75. As a direct and proximate result of this wrongful conversion, plaintiff and the 

members of the National Class have suffered and continue to suffer damages. 

76. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff and the members of the National Class are 

entitled to recover from the Bank all damages and costs permitted by law, including all amounts 

that the Bank has wrongfully converted. 
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COUNT IV 

Unjust Enrichment 

(On Behalf of the National Class) 

77. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 above. 

78. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the National Class, asserts a common law claim 

for unjust enrichment. 

79. By means of the Bank’s wrongful conduct alleged herein, the Bank knowingly 

provides banking services to plaintiff and members of the National Class that are unfair, 

unconscionable, and oppressive. 

80. The Bank knowingly received and retained wrongful benefits and funds from 

plaintiff and members of the National Class. In so doing, the Bank acted with conscious 

disregard for the rights of plaintiff and members of the National Class. 

81. As a result of the Bank’s wrongful conduct as alleged herein, the Bank has been 

unjustly enriched at the expense of, and to the detriment of, plaintiff and members of the 

National Class. 

82. The Bank’s unjust enrichment is traceable to, and resulted directly and 

proximately from, the conduct alleged herein. 

83. Under the common law doctrine of unjust enrichment, it is inequitable for the 

Bank to be permitted to retain the benefits it received, and is still receiving, without justification, 

from the imposition of overdraft fees on plaintiff and members of the National Class in an unfair, 

unconscionable, and oppressive manner.  The Bank’s retention of such funds under 

circumstances making it inequitable to do so constitutes unjust enrichment. 
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84. The financial benefits derived by the Bank rightfully belong to plaintiff and 

members of the National Class. The Bank should be compelled to disgorge in a common fund for 

the benefit of plaintiff and members of the National Class all wrongful or inequitable proceeds 

received by them. A constructive trust should be imposed upon all wrongful or inequitable sums 

received by the Bank traceable to plaintiff and the members of the National Class. 

85. Plaintiff and the members of the National Class have no adequate remedy at law. 

 

COUNT V 

Violations of State Unfair Trade Practice Laws 

(On Behalf of the State Subclasses) 

86. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 above. 

87. The Bank engages in false and deceptive business practices relating to the 

imposition of overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the New York General Obligation 

Law, GBL § 349. 

88. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, 

Connecticut General Statute, Sections 42-110b and 42-110g. 

89. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of 6 Delaware Code §§ 2511, 2513, and 2525. 

90. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the Maryland Consumer Protection Act, Md. Com. 

L. Code Ann. §13-103. 
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91. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the New Jersey Consumer Fraud Act, N.J.S. 56:8-2. 

92. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 and 75-16. 

93. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, §§ 

39-5-20 and 39-5-140(a) of the South Carolina Code. 

94. The Bank engages in unfair business practices relating to the imposition of 

overdraft fees on consumers, in violation of the Vermont Consumer Fraud Act, Vt. Stat. Ann. 

Tit. 9, §§ 2453 and 2461.  

95. As redress for the Bank’s repeated and ongoing violations of these consumer 

protection statutes, plaintiff and the Classes are entitled to, among other things, damages, 

declaratory relief, and injunctive relief requiring the Bank to immediately cease the practices 

alleged in this Complaint. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Classes he seeks to represent, 

demands a jury trial on all claims so triable, and demands judgment as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action and certifying plaintiff as 

class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; 

B. Injunctive relief enjoining the Bank from charging overdraft fees under its current 

policies and from engaging in the wrongful, unfair, and unconscionable practices alleged herein. 
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C. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and the other members of 

the Classes against the Bank for all damages sustained as a result of the Bank’s wrongdoing, in 

an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

D.  Disgorgement of the ill-gotten gains derived by the Bank from its misconduct; 

E. Pre-judgment interest; 

F. Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and 

G. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

 

 

Dated:  May 19, 2015 

 

       FREEMAN LEWIS LLP 

 

 

       By: /s/Robert Y. Lewis  

        Jennifer Freeman 

        Robert Y. Lewis   

        228 East 45th Street – 17th Fl. 

        New York, NY 10017 

        (212) 980-4084    

 

VIANALE & VIANALE LLP 

Kenneth J. Vianale 

(A Member of the Bar of this Court) 

5550 Glades Road, Suite 500 

Boca Raton, FL  33431 

Tel: (561) 392-4750 

Fax: (561) 961-5191 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
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